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          1  CULTURAL AFFAIRS AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Good afternoon.

          3  My name is Domenic M. Recchia, Jr.  I'm the Chair of

          4  the Cultural Affairs Committee, Libraries and

          5  International Intergroup Relations.

          6                 We're having a joint hearing with the

          7  Committee on Economic Development today.  My

          8  colleague and Chairperson Mr. White will be here

          9  shortly.  Before I make an opening statement, I

         10  would like to recognize my colleagues on both

         11  Committees.  We have to my right, Al Vann.  We have

         12  Annabel Palmer, Jimmy Vacca and myself.

         13                 Good afternoon and welcome to this

         14  afternoon's hearing.  Today's hearing is entitled

         15   "In Search of a Blueprint for a Cultural -

         16  Exploring the Creation of a Cultural Development

         17  District in New York City."  It's a joint hearing

         18  with the Committee on Economic Development.

         19                 We're going to study and try to

         20  examine ways in which we could create these cultural

         21  development districts in New York City.  Not only in

         22  Manhattan, but also in the outer boroughs. And

         23  that's a point to stress.

         24                 Last year we held the first of a

         25  Cultural Affairs Committee Blueprint hearing.  Today
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          2  we'll hold our sixth Blueprint hearing.  Over the

          3  last year we heard a lot of testimony from art

          4  professionals, advocates and government agencies

          5  about some of the problems facing this creative

          6  sector.  One of the things we heard over and over

          7  again is about space.  The space to work, space to

          8  live, space to perform, space to rehearse, space to

          9  present and space to grow.  All of this appears to

         10  be far too scarce in New York City.

         11                 Other cities in the United States

         12  ranging from big cities like Philadelphia to smaller

         13  cities such as Paducah, Kentucky are actively using

         14  incentive programs to develop creative space.  New

         15  York City seems to be behind the curve in these

         16  efforts.

         17                 Today's hearing is a first step

         18  towards bringing this process up to speed.  New York

         19  City needs to be far more proactive in supporting

         20  our creative sector and in developing the

         21  infrastructure and the creativity that our economy

         22  needs to succeed in making these cultural districts

         23  become a reality and just not a dream.

         24                 This afternoon we're going to talk

         25  about Cultural Development Districts.  The idea is
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          2  to use tax incentives in targeted communities in

          3  order to both support and protect existing creative

          4  clusters and to develop new creative enterprises.  I

          5  want to be clear that the cultural district idea is

          6  just one of many possible solutions to the space

          7  crisis affecting our cultural community today.  We

          8  are open to other suggestions, other ideas.

          9                 I also want to take this time to

         10  welcome everyone to coming to this hearing.  I ask

         11  they be short and brief, to the point.  We'll be

         12  asking questions.  I'd like at this time to have the

         13  Administration, our wonderful Cultural Affairs

         14  Commissioner, Kate Levin and, unfortunately, Josh

         15  Sirefman is not here with us today, but we have

         16  Audrey, his Executive Vice President.  You can tell

         17  Mr. Sirefman I was looking forward to asking him

         18  questions.

         19                 Commissioner, if you're so kind to go

         20  first.

         21                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN:  Thank you,

         22  Council Member.

         23                 Good afternoon, I am Kate Levin,

         24  Commissioner of the Department of Cultural Affairs,

         25  and I'm here today to testify on the topic of
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          2  today's hearing, "Exploring The Creation of Cultural

          3  Development Districts in New York City."

          4                 I would like to talk briefly today

          5  about the Administration's many efforts to support

          6  and strengthen areas throughout New York City with a

          7  strong cultural presence.  Indeed, there's never

          8  been a stronger consensus that arts and culture have

          9  a profound affect on the City's quality of life,

         10  enlivening neighborhoods, keeping crime down and

         11  attracting residents, students, businesses and

         12  tourists.

         13                 Increasingly, government, city

         14  planners and developers have come to appreciate

         15  cultural activity as one of the most potent forces

         16  in New York City's continuous urban renewal.

         17                 Cultural organizations of every size

         18  and discipline create an important sense of place

         19  and identity and often the most distinguished

         20  architecture for their communities.  From the recent

         21  transformation of Chelsea and Williamsburg into the

         22  City's major gallery districts to the renewal in

         23  progress of Brooklyn's Fort Greene and D.U.M.B.O.

         24  Areas to the growing impact of the artistic

         25  community on Long Island City and in the Far
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          2  Rockaways in Queens, in the South Bronx, in St.

          3  George on Staten Island, artists and cultural

          4  organizations have provided the means to create

          5  vibrant and economically viable neighborhoods.

          6                 Indeed, the Administration recognizes

          7  the intertwined roles of culture and economic

          8  development and has made a major investment of time

          9  and money in supporting cultural organizations that

         10  help revitalize neighborhoods.  DCA regularly

         11  collaborates with our colleagues, City agencies

         12  including the Economic Development Corporation, the

         13  Housing Preservation and Development Department and

         14  the Department of Small Business Services to

         15  strengthen cultural neighborhoods and insure that

         16  culture plays a key role in the host of development

         17  projects like Coney Island, the High Line, Fort

         18  Greene, Hunt's Point, Fresh Kills and East River

         19  Waterfront.

         20                 Working with HPD, DCA was

         21  instrumental in securing ownership for eleven

         22  cultural organizations on East 4th Street that

         23  together form a cultural enclave of extraordinary

         24  diversity.

         25                 After a long history of occupying
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          2  City space, La Mama, Rod Rogers Company, the New

          3  York Theater Workshop and Teatro Circulo, among

          4  others, now own the spaces in which they create and

          5  perform.

          6                 In developing the BAM Cultural

          7  District in downtown Brooklyn, DCA is working with a

          8  variety of partners on creating a unique and vibrant

          9  complex of performing and rehearsal spaces that will

         10  compliment the work of the Brooklyn Music School and

         11  the Brooklyn Academy of Music, which have long

         12  served the Fort Greene community.

         13                 The redevelopment of Lincoln Center

         14  has been another major effort to transform a

         15  cultural area in the City and better connect its

         16  constituent organizations and public areas to the

         17  surrounding neighborhood.

         18                 In 2002, DCA spearheaded the creation

         19  of a taskforce which includes representatives from

         20  all the City agencies involved.  The taskforce has

         21  succeeded in streamlining regulatory processes and

         22  insuring that redevelopment plans move forward.

         23                 The first phase of redevelopment, the

         24  redesign of West 65th Street, is currently underway.

         25                 DCA is also a partner in the City's
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          2  efforts to advance the 125th Street Arts,

          3  Entertainment, and Retail Corridor by building on

          4  the presence of the Studio Museum in Harlem and the

          5  Apollo Theatre.  Moreover, to help further develop

          6  the cultural community in the Long Island City area,

          7  DCA worked with the area's local Business

          8  Improvement District to convene the Long Island City

          9  Cultural Alliance, a consortium of cultural

         10  organizations that addresses shared needs, such as

         11  joint marketing, transportation, signage, affordable

         12  space, printers, et cetera.

         13                 Working with other City agencies, the

         14  Lower Manhattan Development Corporation and the

         15  Lower Manhattan Cultural Council, DCA has focused on

         16  creating and expanding permanent cultural space and

         17  programs throughout Lower Manhattan and on

         18  reinforcing the area's identity as an exciting

         19  cultural center for artists and audiences.

         20                 As a member of the LMDC's Cultural

         21  Enhancement Fund Advisory Panel, DCA is playing a

         22  key role in recommending allocations for $35,000,000

         23  in new grants.

         24                 In 2005, nearly $28,000,000 in

         25  Cultural Enhancement Grants, ranging from $20,000 to
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          2  $2,000,000, were awarded to 63 Lower Manhattan arts

          3  organizations for capital projects, cultural events,

          4  programming and planning and are expected to

          5  leverage more than $410,000,000 in investments for

          6  cultural organizations below Houston Street.

          7                 All of these examples underscore the

          8  organic nature of cultural districts and

          9  government's important role in supporting

         10  organizations that are imbedded in and have a

         11  purpose tied to the neighborhoods they serve.

         12                 Culture is often most valuable not

         13  because of its immediate payoff but because of its

         14  long-term ability to capture the aspirations of a

         15  community.

         16                 In affecting a larger urban planning

         17  vision in New York, government tends to work best by

         18  following the lead of groups that pioneer cultural

         19  districts.

         20                 Lincoln Center is an instance where

         21  government did genetically engineer a cultural

         22  district, but we've come to learn that the most

         23  effective development strategy requires us to be

         24  sensitive to the varying and often complex needs of

         25  a community and the capacity of many different
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          2  organizations.

          3                 That's why DCA works closely with

          4  cultural organizations on capacity building and

          5  insuring that groups are financially robust and can

          6  offer long-term benefits to communities across the

          7  City.

          8                 Moreover, in helping to promote the

          9  development of cultural districts, the agency

         10  recognizes that finding affordable space continues

         11  to be among the most critical challenges facing

         12  cultural organizations throughout the city.

         13                 Under this Administration, DCA has

         14  spearheaded and supported a number of strategies to

         15  address affordability issues and help strengthen

         16  cultural neighborhoods.

         17                 Through both the agency's Expense and

         18  Capital budget, DCA supports a number of arts and

         19  art service organizations that have done an

         20  extraordinary job of developing space in which they

         21  and other organizations can create, rehearse and

         22  perform.  Including the Alliance of Resident

         23  Theatres, Topaz Arts, the Brooklyn Arts Exchange,

         24  the Joyce Theatre, Dance Theatre Workshop, Dance New

         25  Amsterdam and the Baryshnikov Arts Center.
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          2                 Working with HPD, DCA is creating new

          3  affordable theatre and rehearsal space for three

          4  organizations in the Clinton Greene Development on

          5  West 53rd Street in Manhattan.

          6                 DCA has also supported Art New York's

          7  tremendously successful efforts to expand access for

          8  smaller theatre groups to affordable rehearsal and

          9  administrative space both at the spaces at 520 in

         10  Manhattan and at 80 Arts in Brooklyn.

         11                 In addition to benefiting groups

         12  financially, these projects have promoted the kind

         13  of collaboration and resource sharing among

         14  organizations that is essential to creating a

         15  vibrant cultural community.

         16                 In closing, I'd like to thank Council

         17  Member Recchia, Council Member White and all the

         18  Members of both the Cultural Affairs and Economic

         19  Development Committees for their continued support

         20  for New York City's non-profit cultural community.

         21                 Thank you, and I'm happy to answer

         22  any questions you have.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Next.  We'll

         24  let everyone testify, then we'll ask some questions.

         25                 I'd like to recognize Council Member
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          2  Eric Gioia from Queens.

          3                 You have to turn it off to be on.

          4                 MS. SLADE:  Thank you.  Good

          5  afternoon.  I'm Audrey Slade, Executor Vice

          6  President at New York City Economic Development

          7  Corporation.  I'm testifying today on behalf of EDC

          8  regarding our available services for not-for-profit

          9  organizations, including the arts.

         10                 I appreciate the opportunity to

         11  testify at this hearing because it recognizes the

         12  important role that not-for-profits, specifically

         13  the arts, play in economic development.

         14                 The not-for-profit sector accounts

         15  for over half a million New York City's jobs and

         16  almost 14 percent of the gross city product.  The

         17  arts constitute a vital piece of New York City's

         18  social and economic fabric by attracting visitors to

         19  New York City and contributing to the redevelopment

         20  of distressed neighborhoods.

         21                 As such, the not-for-profit sector in

         22  the arts hold special interest for EDC.

         23                 EDC is the City's primary vehicle for

         24  promoting economic growth in each of the five

         25  boroughs.  We stimulate investment in New York and
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          2  broaden the City's tax and employment base, while

          3  meeting needs of businesses and increasingly

          4  not-for-profits.

          5                 To realize these objectives, EDC uses

          6  its real estate incentives and financing tools and

          7  provides real estate guidance to help companies and

          8  not-for-profits that are expanding or relocating

          9  anywhere within the City.

         10                 EDC's real estate incentive tools

         11  include tax abatements for landlords above 96th

         12  Street and in the Bronx, Brooklyn, Staten Island and

         13  Queens.

         14                 Programs such as the Commercial

         15  Expansion Program, or CEP, provide real estate tax

         16  abatement and improvements to pre-1999 commercial

         17  buildings that over 25,000 square feet.

         18                 Landlords pass on the value of those

         19  savings to the tenants via the lease.

         20                 Similarly, the Industrial and

         21  Commercial Incentive Program, or ICIP, provides

         22  exemption from real estate taxes on the value of

         23  improvements to commercial buildings in connection

         24  with renovation or new construction.

         25                 Additionally, not-for-profits that
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          2  move to or expand operations in designated empire

          3  zones may be eligible for additional benefits.

          4                 Financial tools include tax-exempt

          5  bond financing through the New York City Industrial

          6  Development Agency (the IDA), and New York City

          7  Capital Resource Corporation (CRC) and, if eligible,

          8  mortgage recording tax waivers through the IDA.

          9                 The IDA's Not-for-Profit Bond Program

         10  provides not-for-profits with access to triple

         11  tax-exempt bond financing and mortgage recording tax

         12  reductions to finance the acquisition, construction,

         13  renovation, and equipping of their facilities.

         14                 Since 2000, the IDA has assisted

         15  dozens of not-for-profit organizations in financing

         16  over $1.3 billion in capital projects within the

         17  five boroughs.

         18                 Financing a project with triple

         19  tax-exempt bonds enables not-for-profits to initiate

         20  needed capital improvements at the lowest available

         21  cost of borrowing and to better manage the timing of

         22  their capital investments.

         23                 CRC, launched in early 2006, offers a

         24  new means for not-for-profits to obtain lower-cost,

         25  tax-exempt financing. Through its Loan Enhanced
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          2  Assistance Program, or LEAP, (a lot of acronyms) CRC

          3  can make direct loans to not-for-profits that are

          4  expanding or improving services in New York City.

          5                 LEAP is designed to provide

          6  streamlined and cost effective access to tax-exempt

          7  financing.  Borrowings of as low as $1,000,000 may

          8  be cost-effective.

          9                 To date LEAP has made available $31.2

         10  million in tax-exempt financing.

         11                 The development of CRC arose, in

         12  part, from an on going dialogue with our partners at

         13  the Department of Cultural Affairs as a means to

         14  provide arts organizations, among other 501(c)(3)

         15  borrowers, with access to more affordable credit for

         16  their capital projects.

         17                 EDC also collaborates with

         18  not-for-profit institutions to meet financing needs.

         19  In 2006, we teamed with SEEDCO Financial Services to

         20  provide redevelopment loan funds to not-for-profit

         21  cultural organizations that are located in

         22  low-income communities and also City capital grants.

         23  This fund assists with the preliminary planning for

         24  facilities projects making them more likely to

         25  succeed.
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          2                 For the past several years, EDC has

          3  provided services for the not-for-profit sector

          4  through the incentive programs and partnerships

          5  described above.

          6                 Under the leadership of Mayor

          7  Bloomberg and Deputy Mayor Doctoroff, EDC has

          8  recently developed a more systematized approach to

          9  assist and reach out to the sector.

         10                 In September 2006, we established our

         11  first Not-For-Profit Desk, designed to support and

         12  expand the not-for-profit sector, including the

         13  arts.

         14                 This desk is staffed by Theresa

         15  Vazquez, who comes to EDC from a local community

         16  development financial institution where she ran a

         17  citywide program to provide financial assistance and

         18  advice to not-for-profits.

         19                 With well-established relationships

         20  in the sector, Ms. Vazques has initiated outreach to

         21  umbrella organizations, associations, foundations

         22  and individual not-for-profits.

         23                 In partnership with DCA, the

         24  Not-For-Profit Desk has planned outreach to the arts

         25  community through arts councils and individual arts
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          2  organizations.

          3                 Under Ms. Vazquez, the desk will

          4  serve as an information hub for the sector,

          5  connecting not-for-profits to services provided by

          6  EDC, other city agencies and third-party providers.

          7                 In addition, the desk will identify

          8  challenges facing the sector and recommend strategic

          9  initiatives whereby the City can catalyze

         10  public-private solutions.

         11                 Two such issues are the financing

         12  capacity of many not-for-profits, and the cost of

         13  real estate.

         14                 When combined, these issues limit an

         15  organization's ability to purchase a building or

         16  renovate leased or owned space.

         17                 Owned facilities or long-term leases

         18  anchor not-for-profits in the communities they serve

         19  and support the local economy.

         20                 Beginning with arts organizations,

         21  EDC, in cooperation with DCA, will spearhead an

         22  effort to support not-for-profits as they develop

         23  facilities.

         24                 In November 2006, we will convene

         25  lenders, funders, project managers, thought leaders
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          2  and arts institutions to identify gaps in planning

          3  and financing and to recommend solutions.

          4                 This conference represents an ongoing

          5  dialogue we have with the not-for-profit sector in

          6  DCA to better meet the financing and capital

          7  planning needs for arts-related not-for-profits.

          8                 In closing, I would like to thank

          9  Council Member Recchia, Council Member White, and

         10  the Committee for their interest and support of

         11  not-for-profit organizations, specifically those in

         12  the arts.

         13                 I look forward to continuing to work

         14  with City Council, our partners at DCA and the

         15  not-for-profit community to create important

         16  services to support and expand New York City's

         17  economy.

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Thank you very

         20  much.  Before I get started, if anyone has their

         21  cell phone one, please either put it on vibrate or

         22  turn it off.  I'd appreciate that.  Thank you very

         23  much.

         24                 I'd like to recognize Mr. Gentile

         25  from Brooklyn, who is also with us, joining us
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          2  today.

          3                 All right.  So, a lot of what you

          4  said is very interesting and -- Audrey Slade, right?

          5                 MS. SLADE:  Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  See, I had all

          7  my questions ready for Josh Sirefman, you know?

          8                 MS. SLADE:  I'll try to do a good

          9  stand in.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  No, that's

         11  okay.  That's okay.

         12                 Tish, I'm sorry I didn't see you.  I

         13  didn't see you come in.  But Tish James from

         14  Brooklyn.

         15                 You said that in November, you would

         16  convene lenders, funders and project managers?  Are

         17  you having some type of conference or what that all

         18  about.

         19                 MS. SLADE:  I call it a conference,

         20  it really is meant it's probably a bit smaller than

         21  that, but it's really to bring the thought leaders

         22  together to say what are the big issues, particular

         23  as they relate to capital projects for arts

         24  organizations. And are there things that we can do

         25  to better support organizations as they take on
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          2  those projects.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Is that open to

          4  the public or is that by invitation only?

          5                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN:  At the moment

          6  we've conceived of it as a closed-door session.  The

          7  same way that we did the development for the bond

          8  product that Audrey was describing. Obviously, we

          9  will make the findings public, but we found last

         10  time around we convened around 40 people and

         11  primarily the bankers were far more frank with us in

         12  that kind of format than I think they would have

         13  been in a public forum. So, I think that's how we're

         14  going to start this initiative.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Well, the City

         16  Council would like to be involved, if there's a seat

         17  for us at the table.

         18                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN:  I think we could

         19  arrange it.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  We'd really

         21  appreciate that.

         22                 But, getting back here.

         23  Commissioner, in your opinion, do you see a need for

         24  cultural districts in New York City and in the outer

         25  boroughs?
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          2                 Because your testimony kind of

          3  described something like what I view as cultural

          4  districts in certain parts, but do you see a way or

          5  need to develop that throughout the City?

          6                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN:  I guess what I

          7  would say, by way of comparison to some of the other

          8  cities that you mentioned, New York has been

          9  fortunate in that it has never had the kind of

         10  distressed central business district that some of

         11  the other cities you named has suffered from.

         12                 We have had the benefit of a fairly

         13  robust sweep of cultural organizations throughout

         14  the City.

         15                 That said, I think what we're seeing

         16  now as the non-profit cultural sector reaches a new

         17  level of maturity, you're seeing massings of

         18  organizations in the same neighborhood that really

         19  thrive on mutual kinds of support.  I think the

         20  presumption in the cultural community for a long

         21  time was that competition is bad.  I think what

         22  we're seeing is critical, mass is actually really

         23  good.  You walk out of one museum, you're not going

         24  to automatically walk back into it.  If there's a

         25  place you can go across the street to see something
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          2  else, you're going to be drawn to that neighborhood

          3  in a much more powerful way.

          4                 So, that's a long way of saying, I

          5  think when the cultural infrastructure exists, we're

          6  trying to do everything we can to support it.  I

          7  don't think that we need to make the same kind of

          8  efforts that the City of Philadelphia or Providence,

          9  Rhode Island, or certain other cities in the country

         10  have done to genetically engineer cultural districts

         11  but I think we definitely need to do everything we

         12  can to support and help these concentrations of

         13  cultural districts flourish where they are.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Have you

         15  identified any areas within the City to serve as

         16  locations for cultural development, besides the ones

         17  that you discussed?  Are you looking at other areas?

         18                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN:  We named a

         19  number of them. We're also looking at the South

         20  Bronx.  There's starting to be a concentration

         21  around an organization called "The Point".  So

         22  that's a place that we're very interested in.

         23                 There are other neighborhoods.

         24  Again, we have found it's most successful to work

         25  with organizations that are there, to hear what
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          2  their aspirations are.  There's definitely a nexus,

          3  not just along 125th Street, but north of that in

          4  Harlem.  There are other communities in Brooklyn

          5  that are starting to present themselves as having

          6  this kind of interest, this kind of concentration

          7  and the desire to develop capacity.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Yes, cause, you

          9  talk about The Point and I'm going to follow-up with

         10  that.  But the reason why I wanted Mr. Josh Sirefman

         11  here is because one area that I think would be very

         12  good for a cultural district/cultural community

         13  would be Coney Island.  Since we've gone through the

         14  massive redevelopment of Coney Island and there's a

         15  beautiful theatre there, it's one of many ideas.  My

         16  colleagues are laughing because it's my district but

         17  I just wanted to touch on that, but Mr. Sirefman --

         18  we are going to get back to the Bronx.  But just-

         19  can you relate to this?

         20                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN:  It should be

         21  noted that this is something that Mr. Sirefman and I

         22  are working on very heavily is Coney Island, USA.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  I know, we

         24  discussed that. But also, there is the Shore

         25  Theatre.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN:  Yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  That is owned

          4  by a resident of the Bronx, Horace Bullard

          5  (phonetic).  But that's something that I think that

          6  we should all work on to see how we could develop

          7  that into a live theatre and maybe turn that part of

          8  that building into rehearsal space and so forth.

          9                 But, getting back to the South Bronx,

         10  since one of my colleague's is from the Bronx, I'd

         11  like to just recognize Leroy Comrie from Queens.

         12  He's with us today.

         13                 You're talking about The Point, okay.

         14  That's one area that you're trying to develop the

         15  South Bronx around The Point.  What are you doing to

         16  develop that?  How are you reaching out?  Are you

         17  giving any tax incentives?  What's the development

         18  like?  How do you go about it?

         19                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN:  What's happening

         20  there is obviously we support the organization, The

         21  Point.  Several of the cultural organizations that

         22  it's incubated have found space in the American

         23  Banknote Building, which is the equivalent of two

         24  blocks away.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Right.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN:  Baretta Point

          3  Park has just been developed on the other side.

          4  It's not a cultural organization but there may be

          5  opportunities there.  So, part of again, what it is,

          6  tax incentives don't automatically work for

          7  culturals because they're non-profits, so they're

          8  not lured by the tax incentives. It's can you get a

          9  developer to do something on the basis of tax

         10  policy?   And, again, that tends to be extremely

         11  tricky and depend on an enlightened developer.

         12                 In the case of what we're trying to

         13  do at The Point, though, is, again, support not only

         14  that organization but the Arthur Revealis (phonetic)

         15  Company, Guetto Film School, both of whom are

         16  starting to find long-term leaseholds in the

         17  American Bank Building, and whatever we can do to

         18  help them solidify and flourish and ultimately, you

         19  know, when the time comes when they need it, if they

         20  need help with signage from the local subway stop,

         21  whatever we can do to start making that a branded

         22  destination.  But, part of what's great about those

         23  organizations as partners is that they're very

         24  dynamic, they're very entrepreneurial, they know

         25  when to ask us for help and there are many things
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          2  the government isn't so hot at doing for them-

          3  they're finding ways of making that happen.  But

          4  Wherever there's something that we can do and we can

          5  do best, we're trying to make ourselves available to

          6  that set of organizations.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  See, something

          8  like that, it's great and everything, but I also

          9  think that EDC should be involved to start looking

         10  at the surrounding blocks around it to see what else

         11  is available for maybe other groups to come in.  You

         12  see, that's the point we're trying to bring out here

         13  is that, such as The Point, you know, you're looking

         14  at one building and other groups to bring in, but

         15  what we're trying to say is we have to start looking

         16  at the other blocks surrounding that to see what

         17  else might be available for other groups.  We could

         18  help other groups maybe purchase those buildings and

         19  move in to develop a little cultural community and

         20  EDC, you know, look at the small business

         21  restaurants around there and convince them and work

         22  with them and maybe moving in some restaurants.

         23                 This is a point that the Council is

         24  looking at very strongly and the ideas that we have.

         25  We would love to sit down with you and talk to you
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          2  about this along with the Bronx delegation to see

          3  how we could work together in looking at this and to

          4  see what we might be able to do together.

          5                 MS. SLADE:  Well, one of the things

          6  that EDC does is to heighten awareness of what's

          7  available in neighborhoods for not-for-profit

          8  organizations.  And I'm not just talking about

          9  City-owned buildings because, obviously those aren't

         10  there in abundance, to help organizations understand

         11  where the opportunities are and to work with brokers

         12  so they better know where to steer organizations

         13  that are looking for space.  That combined with the

         14  financing tools that we're trying to create is to

         15  make a more cohesive package.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  You see, this

         17  is something that I'm not going to go on but it's an

         18  idea that, the question that the City Council

         19  Members have is how do we get other people

         20  involved?   What you're doing is great.  Now, let's

         21  follow it up. That's something that I think that EDC

         22  has to have working with the local, you know, with

         23  the Bronx delegation and seeing how they can help.

         24  Because They might have ideas or other groups that

         25  are looking for space and that they can work
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          2  together in developing the whole area because that's

          3  what we're trying to do.

          4                 I have more questions but I'm not

          5  going to take up much time because a lot of my

          6  colleagues have questions.

          7                 Councilman --

          8                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN:  If I could just

          9  interject?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Sure.

         11                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN:  We really would

         12  welcome the opportunity to work with you because I

         13  think that's what would make us more effective.  So,

         14  we would love to meet with the Bronx Delegation to

         15  see what we could do together.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  That's great.

         17                 Council Member Al Vann.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  Excuse me.

         19  Good afternoon. Good afternoon.

         20                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN:  Good afternoon.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  Thank you, Mr.

         22  Chairman.

         23                 Brooklyn, as you know, is a large

         24  city.  I guess would be the what.  Fourth largest,

         25  third largest city? If it were designated as a city.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN:  According to

          3   "Welcome Back Kotter."

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  Okay, what's

          5  that?  Okay, I knew that.  I was just joshing.

          6                 Obviously, Brooklyn is a city of

          7  neighborhoods, as we all know.  Very distinct

          8  neighborhoods.  I appreciate the support that New

          9  York City gives to the cultural community.  I think

         10  it's outstanding, what we do, the support we give

         11  our culture.  A lot of it is in Manhattan, we

         12  understand and, of course, like the Brooklyn Museum,

         13  there are some in Brooklyn, as well and I'm sure

         14  there are a couple in some of the other boroughs.

         15                 But I'm speaking for the nature of

         16  Brooklyn in particular, and primarily black, Latino

         17  and minority communities, where there are a lot of

         18  cultural activities that go unrecognized and

         19  therefore not promoted to the rest of the City

         20  because they're not major operations. They're not

         21  big theatres, they're not major museums.  They're

         22  small, but very reflective of the culture and I

         23  think something that could add also to the economics

         24  of those communities, as well.

         25                 I'm wondering, like Brooklyn, for
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          2  instance, of course, we got the BAM district, and

          3  that's great.  If you move a little to the east

          4  you'll find Bed-Stuy Restoration with the Billie

          5  Holiday Theatre and the other things that they have

          6  going.  It sort of cries out for some kind of

          7  cluster, if you will.  But more than that I'm

          8  thinking other parts of Brooklyn, whether it's East

          9  New York, or Brownsville or Bush or Williamsburg,

         10  there's got to be a lot of things happening that

         11  needs to be developed, recognized.

         12                 So, some would be further along than

         13  others.  I'm wondering whether or not, did we have

         14  the ability to do a sort of a survey and to really

         15  get to understand what's happening in our various

         16  neighborhoods.  I'm speaking for Brooklyn.  So that

         17  we could have a better idea of how we can, indeed,

         18  enhance/develop the cultures of this City, of this

         19  borough.

         20                 So, earlier on do you have that kind

         21  of ability, that type of resource that would allow

         22  us, because I can think of groups that really want

         23  to do this type of stuff but lack the resources.

         24  So, do we have a match in terms of what you're

         25  about, we can identify indigenous groups to do the
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          2  early --

          3                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN:  The short answer

          4  is absolutely. The slightly longer answer is that

          5  we've been really impressed by the work of Ken Adams

          6  and the Brooklyn Chamber of Commerce. They've done a

          7  map for Bed-Stuy.  I think they intend to work on

          8  other areas, as you say, to really capture what the

          9  resources are and make them more available to

         10  others.  But, we're happy to work with you.

         11                 One of the things we do in a

         12  partnership with WQXR is promote activities and

         13  events specifically of organizations that don't tend

         14  to have marketing budgets.  So, that's one way that

         15  we reach into communities in the City that, again,

         16  wouldn't necessarily be able to power their own PR

         17  operations but we would welcome the chance to talk

         18  to you about what you see is happening in Brooklyn

         19  and figuring out what it is that we can do to

         20  package and promote what's going on.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  Right.  And in

         22  conclusion, this past June, I was among those who

         23  provided for an Empowerment Convention and so we

         24  brought together constituents from primarily

         25  Brooklyn from around the entire borough into a
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          2  convention.  One of the areas or one of the clusters

          3  dealt with art in culture.  So, there is a group

          4  functioning now that meet on a monthly basis that is

          5  discussing the very things that we are discussing

          6  here.  So, I would like to be able to bring together

          7  a situation where someone from your office, if not

          8  yourself, to meet with this committee or this

          9  cluster so we can have some early discussion of how

         10  they should go about even partnering with the

         11  Chamber, if it comes to that.

         12                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN:  We welcome that

         13  opportunity.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  Right.  Thank

         15  you.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  You're welcome.

         17                 David Weprin is with us today.  Tish

         18  James, you have questions from Brooklyn?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Commissioner

         20  Levin, we missed you on Saturday night at the

         21  Prospect Park Alliance.  You were given a

         22   "shout-out", you and your father.  So, just thank

         23  you for all that you've done.

         24                 I want to focus on BAM LDC, which is

         25  in my district and Eric Gioia and the Speaker, just
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          2  had the opportunity to visit Hanson Place Central

          3  United Methodist Church, a historic building, which

          4  is located physically within this cultural district.

          5                 For my colleagues and also for the

          6  members of the audience, the BAM LDC began with a

          7  rocky start.  There was a lot of pushback from the

          8  community because it was not organic.  It was the

          9  vision of some individuals and not the vision of the

         10  community. They realized that the community

         11  supported a cultural district but they wanted to

         12  insure that the cultural district reflected the

         13  diversity of downtown Brooklyn, the Borough of

         14  Brooklyn, and also included indigenous communities

         15  that have been there for a very long time and had

         16  continued to serve Fort Greene and Clinton Hill and

         17  all of downtown Brooklyn.

         18                 THE BAM LDC started with 80 Arts,

         19  which was named after my predecessor, the late James

         20  Davis, and included in that building is a number of

         21  small arts programs and I'm really happy to say that

         22  it really reflects all of the cultural groups in

         23  downtown Brooklyn.

         24                 But as we go forward with this BAM

         25  LDC, in your testimony you indicate that you're
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          2  working with a variety of partners and I wanted to

          3  know if you could name those partners. Because

          4  again, there still continues to be some concern with

          5  the BAM LDC.  There still continues to be a concern

          6  with the vision of BAM LDC.  It's my role to ensure

          7  that the BAMLDC reflects the cultural vision of all

          8  of Brooklyn and particularly the members of my

          9  district and that it's not an economic development

         10  engine.

         11                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN:  The key partners

         12  on the City side are the Economic Development

         13  Corporation and the newly formed Downtown Brooklyn

         14  Partnership, which has absorbed the BAM LDC.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Right.  I had

         16  spoken to Joe Chan who is the downtown czar, and

         17  have indicated to him and have suggested to him that

         18  he create an advisory group which consists of

         19  members of the community.  I've not heard back from

         20  him.  We have a meeting scheduled.

         21                 But, again, it would suggest to me

         22  that if an organization is created organically and

         23  is concerned about ensuring that all of the

         24  community is represented, that you would create an

         25  advisory group, which includes the elected officials
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          2  who represent the area, as well as a number of

          3  individuals who have long served the downtown

          4  Brooklyn community.

          5                 So, that's really absolutely critical

          6  as we go forward so that we can, again, prevent some

          7  of the more raucous meetings that we've had in the

          8  past in the community in response to the BAM LDC.

          9  I'm certain that the Chairperson would be helpful in

         10  making sure that the BAM LDC results in a smooth

         11  transition.  The best way to do that is to involve

         12  local community groups, as well as local elected

         13  officials and members of the clergy.

         14                 One organization in particular which

         15  I know has been very challenging, Paul Robeson.  As

         16  I hear a sigh from the Chair. Paul Robeson, though

         17  not physically located in the BAM LDC, but I

         18  recognize that the lines of the BAM LDC are

         19  invisible and can change.  What can we do for Paul

         20  Robeson?  How can we assist Paul Robeson?   Let me

         21  just say.  I've indicated to the leadership of Paul

         22  Robeson that there needs to be an organizational

         23  change.  I made that a condition of any public

         24  funds.  Is there any way that we could mentor Paul

         25  Robeson?  Is there any way that we can bring them
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          2  into the fold?

          3                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN:  We have been

          4  endeavoring to do that for years.  We are available.

          5  We will do everything but fill out their grant

          6  applications for them.  So, you know, happy to work

          7  with you on a leadership transition, you know,

          8  that's our job.  We're there. We're prepared to do

          9  it, and we have been trying with this organization

         10  for a number of years.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Okay. I

         12  appreciate it.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  If I could just

         14  interfere in that.

         15                 With the Paul Robeson Theatre, we've

         16  been working with them, and I believe that they do

         17  have all the paperwork in.  I believe it was all

         18  filed on time.

         19                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN:  Again, it's not

         20  just paperwork to us.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  I know.  No,

         22  no.  I know, but I think that the mistakes that were

         23  made in the past, I think this year a lot of those

         24  errors were corrected.

         25                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN:  We live for
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          2  progress at the agency.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Of course.

          4  That's what we do too.  We've been working with

          5  them.

          6                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN:  Go ahead.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Go ahead.

          8                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN:  I'm sorry.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Hopefully we

         10  can progress in trying to protect, save and preserve

         11  Paul Robeson.  She is an institution.  She was one

         12  of the first, separate and aside from serving as a

         13  cultural figure in the neighborhood.  She was one of

         14  the first African-American OBGYN doctors in Brooklyn

         15  and does have some historic significance in

         16  Brooklyn.

         17                 In downtown Brooklyn, the cost of

         18  real estate has been very challenging.  There's a

         19  number of not-for-profit organizations, all located

         20  along Rockwell Place, they're primarily social

         21  services agencies.  They do some children

         22  programming. They're all being evicted.  Assemblyman

         23  Joe Lentol (phonetic) and I are working together to

         24  try to find them a place to land.  There's about six

         25  organizations which primarily serve the residents of
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          2  the public housing, and Fort green in particular.

          3  They're all being evicted.  That 99 cent store

          4  located at Fulton and Rockwell just lost its lease

          5  and that entire building and block is on the market.

          6  Actually someone bought it and are about to convert

          7  it, unfortunately.

          8                 So, again, if we could figure them

          9  into the BAM LDC district that would be really

         10  helpful.  I believe there's like six and, if my

         11  memory serves me correctly, Assemblyman Lentol just

         12  appropriated capital dollars in the amount of

         13  $1,000,000, if I'm not mistaken.  But we're looking

         14  for space either in the cultural district and or

         15  along Myrtle Avenue and that would be greatly

         16  appreciated.

         17                 Again, Brooklyn Music School, Hanson

         18  Place, Central United Methodist Church, 651 Arts,

         19  Brick, Arts New York, Paul Robeson, Mark Morris.

         20  The list goes on and on.  If all of them should be

         21  included in other small cultural organizations in

         22  the cultural district, that would be greatly

         23  appreciate it.

         24                 And last, let me end up by saying

         25  there was another meeting that was rather raucous
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          2  when I was informed that the BAM LDC wanted to

          3  create their own bid on Fulton Street for three

          4  blocks, despite the fact that we have been

          5  organizing and have created a BID or we're in the

          6  midst of certifying a BID on Fulton Street which

          7  included the "BAM LDC blocks".  I oppose a BAM LDC

          8  bid exclusively for three blocks, which would

          9  include the BAM LDC and two luxury towers.  I've

         10  indicated that to Joe Chan.  I'm saying that

         11  publicly now.  I will oppose that and I will urge

         12  all of my colleagues to vote against it.  I do not

         13  want to have a separate BID for newcomers.  I

         14  believe the Fulton Street BID will suffice and will

         15  serve their interest.  We should be one and we

         16  should not be separate and we should not be set

         17  apart.

         18                 So, thank you and I look forward to

         19  further discussions with regard to the BAM LDC.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Just to

         21  follow-up to what you said, I think the best thing

         22  that we should do here is have a meeting with all

         23  the players at the table, BAM LDC, the Downtown

         24  Partnership headed by Joe Chan in Cultural Affairs

         25  and EDC.  That would be the best way to try and see
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          2  how we could discuss some of the issues that my

          3  colleague brought up.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Well, just to

          5  let you know, I spoke to Joe Chan about this on two

          6  occasions and he indicated to me that, at this point

          7  in time, they were going to withdraw the BAM LDC

          8  BID, after I used a lot of words that I'm not very

          9  proud of. We have talked about the extension of the

         10  Metro Tech BID down Lafayette Avenue to include the

         11  BAM LDC, but the Fulton Street BID which is being

         12  organized by the Pride Area Community Council will

         13  remain intact from Flatbush to Klasson.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Okay.  We'll

         15  try to set up a meeting so we can bring everybody

         16  together and see how we can resolve these issues and

         17  make sure that your wishes are met.

         18                 But this is exactly what we're

         19  talking about, Commissioner.  How we have BAM,

         20  surrounding BAM, you have other small institutions

         21  that are very, very good and they do a lot for the

         22  community, and we just want to develop the whole

         23  area into a cultural community to see maybe we could

         24  get some funding for that area and see how we could

         25  do that.  This is exactly what we're talking about,
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          2  exactly what Ms. James brought up.  But, in

          3  developing BAM in the local area, we don't want to

          4  leave out the other theatres, like the Paul Robeson

          5  Theatre and other small institutions and see how we

          6  can help them.  This is exactly what we're talking

          7  about today in the hearing; what we want to focus

          8  on.

          9                 Jim Vacca.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  Commissioner,

         11  thank you.  Mr. Chairman.

         12                 One brief question.  I noticed in

         13  page three of your testimony, Commissioner, you

         14  speak about HPD and DCA creating new affordable

         15  theatre and rehearsal space for three organizations

         16  in Clinton Greene and West 53rd.  When you develop

         17  these new affordable theatre spaces, are they in --

         18  what's the relationship with HPD?  Are they in HPD

         19  affordable housing developments, or are they on

         20  property that HPD may have in their inventory?

         21                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN:  It's the latter

         22  and in the course of creating a deal with the

         23  developer when HPD can control the terms of the

         24  deal, one thing that we were able to require in this

         25  particular case was the creation as a community use
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          2  space of your facilities.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  So, you did

          4  not build this in housing; you built this in HPD

          5  inventoried space?

          6                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN:  That includes

          7  housing.  It's a housing development that has, as

          8  part of it, the theatre spaces.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  I'd like to

         10  invite you to the Bronx.

         11                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN:  We'd love to do

         12  more.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  I have two

         14  affordable housing develop -- you know, I love your

         15  testimony.  You're doing a wonderful job.  I'd like

         16  us to do more in my borough and perhaps if --

         17                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN:  I'm there.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  Excuse me?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Your borough or

         20  your district?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  I'll take

         22  either one at this point.  I read this and I think

         23  it's wonderful, but I'd like to know where are we

         24  and I appreciate your alluding to Hunt's Point.  I

         25  do intend to reach out to you.  I have two
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          2  affordable developments and I have theatre groups

          3  paying for space that they have to rent that they

          4  cannot meet and I think it's a good opportunity for

          5  us in the borough.

          6                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN:  These are

          7  incredibly complex deals.  We'd love to do more of

          8  them.  We're just figuring out how to do them and,

          9  to the extent that it's a model we can replicate,

         10  we'd love to.  So, happy to talk with you.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  Thank you,

         12  Commissioner.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  What I'm just

         14  thinking here, Commissioner and with EDC, maybe we

         15  should set up some meetings with each delegation so

         16  you might be able to explain what you're doing in

         17  each borough.

         18                 I mean, let me talk to the heads of

         19  the delegations from each borough to see if they'd

         20  be interested in that.  So they can find out exactly

         21  what is going on in their borough and so they could

         22  know exactly where they stand and how they might be

         23  able to work with your office and EDC in helping

         24  develop and supporting these areas.  Okay?

         25                 Does anyone have any other questions?
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          2  Okay.

          3                 Also, I just want to bring up the

          4  Non-Profit Desk. What are you doing to reach out to

          5  non-for-profits to tell them that you're there to

          6  help them?

          7                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN:  We are, well

          8  Theresa Vazquez, who's right here, who is our new

          9  not-for-profit desk head.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Stand up so

         11  everybody can see you.  Everybody has questions.

         12  They're there to help the not-for-profits, cultural

         13  institutions.  Use her.  Call her up.  Give them

         14  your phone number.  Take her card.

         15                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN:  We will make

         16  that information available to you.  Also, we will

         17  have the information on our website.  We're in the

         18  process of developing it because the idea is that we

         19  want to be an information hub about the

         20  not-for-profit sector.  That said, there are many --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  So, did you

         22  start already?

         23                 MS. SLADE: Actually, that's an

         24  important point to make.  It really is broadly for

         25  the not-for-profit sector including the arts.  It's
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          2  not exclusively for the arts.  It was misreported in

          3  various newspapers.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  It's for

          5  not-for-profit help. A desk for not-for-profits,

          6  period, and the arts are, of course, included. So,

          7  what's your phone number so we could have people

          8  call you?

          9                 MS. SLADE:  If you call the main

         10  information line at EDC, you'll be routed properly.

         11  I promise you because they'll send it all to

         12  Theresa.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  That sounds to

         14  me like you're going to get the run-around over

         15  here.

         16                 MS. SLADE:  No, I promise.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  I know what it

         18  is to call up EDC sometimes.

         19                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN:  But, to answer

         20  your question.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  So what's the

         22  phone number at EDC?

         23                 MS. SLADE: 312-3600.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  312-3600.  Ask

         25  for Theresa Vazquez.  We're going to make sure
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          2  everybody knows about that.  Go ahead.

          3                 MS. SLADE:  I mean, from a practical

          4  standpoint, obviously there are many, many

          5  not-for-profit organizations in the City, thousands

          6  of them, so we obviously have to have an efficient

          7  means of reaching them.  So, one is to have the

          8  information on our website where it's centrally

          9  available so organizations can, on a self-serve

         10  basis, get what they need.

         11                 In addition to that, we're really in

         12  the process of it now, Theresa is reaching out to

         13  many of the umbrella not-for-profit organizations.

         14  There's already a very robust infrastructure for

         15  supporting not-for-profits.  We're not looking to

         16  reinvent that.  We're looking to raise the profile

         17  and make that information more available and

         18  accessible.

         19                 In addition, we're looking at

         20  specific issues that not-for-profit organizations

         21  face, like the arts and culturals trying to do

         22  capital projects, that's what we talked about

         23  earlier.  To see if there are gaps that can be

         24  filled, and that's another part of the

         25  not-for-profit desk, is to look at those gaps, see
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          2  if we can, together with others, come up with a

          3  solution, whether it's other financing tools or

          4  other pieces of information or training, the

          5  not-for-profits including arts and cultural

          6  organizations need.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  You're going to

          8  be getting a lot of phone calls.  A lot of

          9  questions.

         10                 MS. SLADE:  She's already getting a

         11  lot of phone calls.  That won't be new.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Does anyone

         13  have any further questions?   I won't take up any

         14  more of your time.  I want to thank you for

         15  testifying here today.

         16                 Commissioner, we're going to be

         17  following up with you.

         18                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN:  Look forward to

         19  that.  Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Thank you.

         21                 Okay.  Commissioner, if you plan on

         22  leaving.  I hope you can leave a staff member

         23  behind.  Okay.  Thank you.  Tell Mr. Sirefman we

         24  missed him this afternoon.  And tell him about my

         25  Coney Island issue.  Okay.
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          2                 MS. DePEDRO: For the second one,

          3  Alyson Baker from the Long Island City Cultural

          4  Alliance, Shawn Mclearen, Artspace Projects, Stacy

          5  Cooper McMath, Chashama.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Go ahead, Shawn.

          7  Do you want to go first? I understand you have to

          8  go?

          9                 MR. MCLEAREN: I'd appreciate that.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Sure. I

         11  appreciate you taking the time out to testify here

         12  today.

         13                 MR. MCLEAREN: First of all I want to

         14  thank --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Just give your

         16  name and your title and the organization that you're

         17  from.

         18                 MR. MCLEAREN: My name is Shawn

         19  Mclearen. I work with Artspace Projects. I'm a

         20  Project Manager and the Director of our

         21  International Consulting.

         22                 First I'd like to take the

         23  opportunity to thank the Committee for having us

         24  again, specifically Co-Chairs Recchia and White.

         25                 In December of last year we were
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          2  asked to address the issues of developing studio and

          3  housing space for artists, best practices, Land Use

          4  strategies, and the long-term maintenance of

          5  affordable housing and studio and space.

          6                 As we stated at that time, we applaud

          7  your Committees' interests in exploring the idea of

          8  zoning designations, such as cultural development

          9  districts that are specifically tailored to address

         10  the role of the arts and creative industries within

         11  the new economy, and remain honored to be considered

         12  as a resource to your efforts in this regard.

         13                 I'd like to begin with a short

         14  introduction to Artspace, as I think it's pertinent

         15  to the discussion, to discuss the impact of our

         16  projects on communities within which they exist.

         17                 Artspace Projects was established in

         18  1979 to serve as an advocate for artists' space

         19  needs.

         20                 However, by the mid-1980s, it became

         21  clear to us that the problem of inadequate space for

         22  artists required a more proactive approach, and so

         23  Artspace Projects transformed from an advocate to a

         24  real estate developer.

         25                 With this in mind, the mission of
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          2  Artspace Projects is to create, foster and preserve

          3  affordable artists space and for arts and arts

          4  organizations.

          5                 We pursued this mission through

          6  development projects, asset management, consulting

          7  services and community building activities that

          8  serve artists and arts organizations that serve all

          9  disciplines, cultures, economic circumstances.

         10                 Artspace is now America's leading

         11  non-profit real estate developer for the arts.

         12                 Working across the country, we

         13  continue to own and operate the 18 projects we have

         14  completed, and have another 12 projects that are

         15  currently underway.

         16                 Over the lifespan of our projects, we

         17  have come to learn that by not only advocating on

         18  behalf of our artists, but developing and

         19  maintaining the spaces that they need.

         20                 Artspace Projects simultaneously

         21  supports the continued professional growth of the

         22  arts and creative industries, while directly

         23  enhancing the cultural and economic vitality of the

         24  communities within which they are situated.

         25                 To this end, each of our projects
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          2  represents a unique success story of a community

          3  articulating and executing its objective of creating

          4  a multi-use facility for the arts.

          5                 Despite the immediate obstacles that

          6  they were able to identify from the outset, another

          7  lesson then that our organization has learned over

          8  the lifespan of our projects, is that the single

          9  most important factor in the success of a project is

         10  community leadership.

         11                 In terms of Artspace's experience

         12  with something akin to cultural development

         13  districts, we are currently involved in the

         14  communities of Santa Cruz California, Monteray

         15  California, Prince George's County Maryland, and

         16  Denver Colorado.

         17                 I'll just talk a little bit about

         18  some of those and the specifics in them. I'd also

         19  like to note that we have a tentative meeting

         20  scheduled with the task force about some of these

         21  specifics, so the questions that I'm sure will

         22  arise, we can address during that.

         23                 In Santa Cruz, California the

         24  district type is an arts campus. Size is

         25  approximately eight acres that will include 100 new
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          2  construction artists live/work housing units

          3  developed by our organization.

          4                 Thirty-seven thousand square feet of

          5  an historic rehab to working studios, also developed

          6  by Artspace. A ballet school and company facility,

          7  which will be used by the direct user and a

          8  multi-tenant creative learning center, called the

          9  Tanery Arts Center (phonetic).

         10                 This development type is a single

         11  site holistic approach to creating multiple uses. In

         12  this case a brownfield site to be redeveloped as a

         13  large arts campus development.

         14                 Some of the economic incentives

         15  involved are local acquisition and retention of

         16  property, at the value of about $6 million,

         17  significant availability of local redevelopment

         18  agency dollars for predevelopment, state dollars in

         19  the form of multi-housing production programs, and

         20  federal home loan banks, federal four percent

         21  housing tax credits, tax exempt bonds, some EDI and

         22  brownfields funds.

         23                 In Prince George's County Maryland,

         24  the district type is an arts district. The district

         25  size is a four mile corridor of Rhode Island Avenue,
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          2  wherein Artspace is creating a 144-unit artists

          3  live/work facility with ancillary commercial footage

          4  within the district in a separate area.

          5                 Development type is a commitment,

          6  essentially a commitment by the county to move

          7  forward on the creation of an arts district plan.

          8                 Specifically they've sought to define

          9  four major arts district projects that will anchor

         10  the larger four-mile corridor.

         11                 It's worth noting that in that case

         12  the anchor projects had taken longer than they had

         13  initially anticipated, which has occurred in such a

         14  manner as to provide the community an opportunity to

         15  create more organic arts and creative industries

         16  project activity.

         17                 The local acquisition and retention

         18  of sites is also at play here, providing time for

         19  the smaller and non-profit developer to play a role.

         20  Capital dollars, and also sales tax and income tax

         21  abatement programs that will bring some of the

         22  private groups into the project as well.

         23                 State level rental housing production

         24  funds at the federal again housing tax credits, EDI

         25  and home funds.

                                                            56

          1  CULTURAL AFFAIRS AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2                 In Monteray California the district

          3  types is actually an entire community master plan.

          4  Massive site of many acres, which is called East

          5  Garrison Arts District. It's one component of the

          6  Fort Ord (phonetic) Redevelopment Plan. Within the

          7  redevelopment of Fort Ord, a for-profit developer

          8  called East Garrison Partners is proceeding to

          9  create a new master plan community of approximately

         10  1,600 dwelling units.

         11                 A key component of this new community

         12  is the creation of an arts district, and will

         13  integrate the new non-arts residential development,

         14  a new town center commercial area with arts-related

         15  uses that will be housed in 20 historically

         16  significant rehabilitated structures, approximately

         17  60,000 square foot of six working studio space. And

         18  two new construct artists live/work housing

         19  containing 64 dwelling units.

         20                 There again, also kind of

         21  interesting, is the matter that the local uses,

         22  private developers inclusionary housing subsidy and

         23  historic rehab equity are being used in order to

         24  finance the non-profit side of the development

         25  sector.
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          2                 In Denver there is another type of

          3  district which is called the Science and Culture Tax

          4  District, otherwise acronym as SCFD (sic). The

          5  district size is the entire seven-county metro area,

          6  and it is done through -- the votes every couple of

          7  years put this back into action wherein the citizens

          8  of the seven-county metro area volunteer to generate

          9  one-tenth of one percent of all sales tax or one

         10  cent of every ten dollars to be redistributed to the

         11  various groups for capital and programmatic needs.

         12                 I think another thing worth noting

         13  about Denver is the Denver Urban Renewal Authority,

         14  tax increment financing projects, wherein through

         15  district overlay, property and/or sales taxes are

         16  frozen for a certain number of years based upon a

         17  baseline, thereby reallocating their profits and

         18  financing costs.

         19                 As I think it's worth noting, just as

         20  being involved in our international work that the

         21  City of Amsterdam has done some very creative

         22  efforts in terms of a new desk that they call the

         23  creative City's project bureau. That was established

         24  essentially in order to address the large growth of

         25  the arts and creative industries over the last
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          2  decade in an effort to thereby create the next

          3  decade intelligent growth with adequate

          4  infrastructure built underneath that sector, in

          5  order to explicitly have the goal of making the arts

          6  and creative industries the most competitive in the

          7  world.

          8                 With these examples in mind, a brief

          9  assessment of New York City suggests that there are

         10  four fundamental components to us that might be

         11  considered.

         12                 One, a city policy could be

         13  articulated that simultaneously identifies the

         14  growth of New York's Arts and Creative Industries

         15  Sector over the last decade, the current

         16  infrastructural needs, and an agenda for intelligent

         17  growth within that sector over the next decade with

         18  express intent of making it the world's most

         19  competitive.

         20                 Two, the competitive strategies and

         21  experiences of other communities outside of New York

         22  City should be surveyed and considered for their

         23  potential applicability within New York City's

         24  cultural ecosystem.

         25                 Three, the creation of a new City
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          2  desk modeled in part upon the City of Amsterdam's

          3  Creative Cities Project Bureau, which would have the

          4  responsibility, authority and budgetary capacity to

          5  weave together interdepartmental expertise necessary

          6  to address the issues such as we're addressing here

          7  today.

          8                 Understood is one component of the

          9  larger City policy. While everyone understands that

         10  there remain institutional concerns which stand in

         11  the way of such districts being implemented

         12  immediately, an effective City desk will create an

         13  effective City platform, wherein these concerns are

         14  understood less as obstacles and more as an

         15  opportunity to integrate the significant expertise

         16  that these institutions represent.

         17                 Four, while public sector departments

         18  such as economic development, cultural affairs, and

         19  City Planning will serve as vital partners in the

         20  success of such districts, we have learned that the

         21  diversity of private sector capacities will be

         22  equally vital to the creation of effective public

         23  partnerships, identifying the strengths as well as

         24  the weaknesses of these comparative capacities and

         25  then finding a means through which to bolster their
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          2  ability for collaboration and competition that will

          3  serve the interests and the effectiveness of such

          4  districts for the City of New York. Whether through

          5  recent examples, such as the $200 million

          6  acquisition fund that serves to make small and

          7  non-profit developers competitive in the acquisition

          8  of City land, or perhaps some new combination of

          9  inclusionary zoning, incremental zoning overlays

         10  and/or tiffs, it seems clear to our organization

         11  that the community leadership exists here to combine

         12  successes and failures of the past with the new

         13  economy needs of the future.

         14                 Two practical considerations we might

         15  recommend: First, cultural development districts

         16  must strike a balance between consumption and

         17  production.

         18                 Over-emphasizing the consumption side

         19  of such districts will compromise their long-term

         20  sustainability, lead to hyper-development, and to

         21  the renewal of the same issues that we were gathered

         22  here today to address.

         23                 Second, similarly, affordable

         24  live-work spaces for the arts and creative

         25  industries should serve as an anchor to the
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          2  sustainability of cultural districts. By integrating

          3  such facilities, communities have a greater capacity

          4  to ensure that such districts retain their intended

          5  purpose, and that all parts of the ecosystem remain

          6  at play and contribute to the growth of the

          7  community.

          8                 As you know, we are currently working

          9  in partnership with El Barrios's Operation Fight

         10  Back on our first project in New York City.

         11                 As we have stated previously, some of

         12  the issues and problems we face in our work together

         13  can be seen through the lens of New York City as a

         14  much bigger and much more heated real estate market.

         15                 As is evidenced in all neighborhoods,

         16  as the Committee is well aware, competition for

         17  development sites is extremely difficult and very

         18  little under-utilized property remains.

         19                 Again, while this situation exists in

         20  other areas of the country, it is much more

         21  difficult in New York City.

         22                 To our mind, this serves to

         23  underscore not only the urgency of the problems that

         24  the arts and industries face as an internationally

         25  competitive sector within New York City, but to
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          2  their vitality as a partner in addressing those

          3  problems.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you for

          6  your testimony, and if you can leave us a copy of

          7  that testimony, because I know you have to run.

          8                 I just want to ask you a quick

          9  question. So, in other words, you know, because EDC

         10  testified earlier that basically the not-for-profits

         11  to really develop, they really don't need tax

         12  incentives, but with your testimony you feel like

         13  you really need tax incentives. And all the

         14  mechanics to make it more worthwhile for you to

         15  develop so we could get housing for the cultural and

         16  the artist.

         17                 MR. MCLEAREN: Our work specifically

         18  is very much in gear with that philosophy. Our wider

         19  assessment which comes from our work nationally

         20  would also support that there are incentives that

         21  could be put to play which would also facilitate

         22  other organizations, capacities and ability to

         23  cluster. So, yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: All right, thank

         25  you.
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          2                 MR. MCLEAREN: Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Just leave us a

          4  copy of that.

          5                 All right, next.

          6                 MS. BAKER: Hello. My name is Alyson

          7  Baker. I'm the Executive Director of Socrates

          8  Sculpture Park and the current President of the Long

          9  Island City Cultural Alliance.

         10                 The Long Island City Cultural

         11  Alliance was established in 2001 as a partnership

         12  between a group of non-profit cultural organizations

         13  based in and around Long Island City, Queens.

         14                 These include Dorsky Gallery

         15  Curatorial Programs, Fisher Landau Center for Art,

         16  the Musuem for African Art, the Museum of Modern

         17  Art, the Museum of the Moving Image, the Nogucci

         18  Museum, PS 1 Center for Contemporary Art, Sculpture

         19  Center, Socrates Sculpture Park and Thalia Spanish

         20  Theatre.

         21                 During the past six years, these

         22  organizations have met regularly, with

         23  representatives of the City of New York Department

         24  of Cultural Affairs, City Planning, the Long Island

         25  City Business Development Corporation and many other
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          2  neighborhood organizations to determine how to work

          3  together and best represent the needs of Long Island

          4  City large and dynamic artistic community.

          5                 The Long Island City Cultural

          6  Alliance is now an independent non-profit

          7  organization whose mission is to promote arts and

          8  culture in Long Island City by creating a cultural

          9  destination for diverse audiences from the greater

         10  New York area, as well as national and international

         11  tourists.

         12                 The Alliance is committed to working

         13  in concert with Long Island City's artists,

         14  businesses, developers and residents to advocate for

         15  the cultural and economic growth of the

         16  neighborhood.

         17                 Through innovative and inclusive

         18  collaboration, the Alliance identifies and furthers

         19  the shared goals of its members in order to

         20  encourage, strengthen and enrich the vital artistic

         21  community of Long Island City.

         22                 In 2003, the Alliance in partnership

         23  with the Department of Cultural Affairs, City

         24  Planning and the Design Trust for Public Spaces,

         25  undertook an urban design study that explored the
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          2  ways in which Long Island City could become an arts

          3  destination while maintaining its unique and highly

          4  diverse character.

          5                 The Design Trust contracted a team of

          6  specialists to undertake this two-year study and

          7  their recommendations for mixed use urban planning,

          8  improvements to infrastructure and transportation,

          9  collaborative programming, as well as identity,

         10  marketing and way finding initiatives were published

         11  by the Design Trust in a book called Long Island

         12  City: Connecting the Arts. If you have not yet

         13  received a copy, this is the book I'm referring to.

         14  I'd be happy to send you one. I think many of you

         15  have probably seen it already. We're happy to send

         16  more if you need them.

         17                 This project provided a better

         18  understanding of the area and its potential for

         19  truly innovative development and revitalization, and

         20  expresses our believe that Long Island City can

         21  accommodate a broad range of industrial, residential

         22  artistic enterprises as it grows economically.

         23                 To do this, we just protect the

         24  current cultural community and encourage new artists

         25  and arts organizations to make Long Island City
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          2  their home.

          3                 Affordable space for studios, as well

          4  as performance and exhibition venues is essential to

          5  the continued vibrancy and future development of our

          6  community.

          7                 If you have any questions of if I can

          8  provide more specific information that relates more

          9  directly to the blueprint that you're developing, I

         10  would be happy to assist in any what that I can.

         11                 In coming here today I wasn't exactly

         12  sure, I haven't been privy to the previous

         13  conversations, but just hearing what I have heard

         14  today, one of the reasons why I wanted to come was

         15  because I'm often contacted by arts groups that are

         16  perhaps leaving Manhattan. There is a sort of

         17  decentralization happening out of Manhattan and

         18  wanting to go to outer boroughs, and they call me

         19  saying where do we find space, how do we get, you

         20  know, the best possible deals? And at the same time,

         21  I have developers that I know in Long Island City,

         22  local developers, specifically the Quigley family

         23  and who own Plaxol and the Silvercup Studios

         24  developments, looking to incorporate non-profits

         25  specifically visual arts and performing arts groups
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          2  into their development, but they don't really know

          3  how to best pursue that.

          4                 One of the things that comes up a lot

          5  for artists is affordable housing, affordable work

          6  space, and one of the things that's a big component

          7  of any major development happening in Long Island

          8  City is a portable space.

          9                 So, I'm wondering if there isn't a

         10  way to reconcile those, and have some ways the City

         11  or representatives of the City can sit down with

         12  interested developers and interested either

         13  individual artists or profit organizations to figure

         14  out how to get them together. They both want to do

         15  it, but they just don't know how to move forward on

         16  it.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: That's the

         18  purpose of us having this hearing is to hear from

         19  people like you, to see how we could help you and

         20  your groups that are screaming out that we need

         21  help, we need direction, and if we have these little

         22  cultural districts throughout the five boroughs,

         23  they would know where to go to get the help.

         24                 See, that's why we asked for someone

         25  from the Administration to stay behind, and we have
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          2  Sarah here.

          3                 Sarah, did you hear her testimony?

          4  Make sure you have a copy.

          5                 Did you give her a copy? We'll get

          6  you a copy.

          7                 Okay, next.

          8                 MS. McMATH: Hi. My name is Stacey

          9  McMath, and I'm the General Manager of Chashama.

         10  Chashama is an organization that for the past 11

         11  years has been providing services and opportunities

         12  to artists in New York City.

         13                 Chashama adopts unused transitional

         14  properties and converts them into theaters and

         15  studios and galleries and performance spaces, and

         16  then regrants these spaces to performing arts

         17  groups, visual artists and individual artists for

         18  free, or at heavily subsidized rates.

         19                 We at Chashama believe that the lack

         20  of affordable space is the greatest threat to a

         21  diverse dynamic and provocative cultural environment

         22  in New York City.

         23                 Chashama was founded in order to find

         24  a way to connect artists and performers with

         25  untapped reserves of temporarily vacant commercial
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          2  real estate, empty storefronts and office spaces

          3  that were languishing between tenants.

          4                 Over the last six years, Chashama has

          5  formed relationships with some of New York City's

          6  largest developers and property owners and has

          7  persuaded them that allowing artists to use

          8  temporarily vacant space adds value to properties by

          9  preventing neglect and decay and invigorating

         10  surrounding communities with creative activity.

         11                 Chashama has worked with many real

         12  estate owners, including the Durst Organization,

         13  Newmark and Company, Forest City Ratner, George

         14  Comfort & Sons, Brause Realty, C&K Properties and

         15  HEC Real Estate.

         16                 The benefits of participation in

         17  Chashama's mission to landlords are exceptional. In

         18  every case an active arts venue that's managed by an

         19  established not-for-profit organization, brings in a

         20  diverse artistic community, focusing new attention

         21  on both the specific building and also the

         22  surrounding neighborhood, attracting artists and

         23  audience and press.

         24                 The revitalizing affect of arts and

         25  cultural activities in urban neighborhoods has been
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          2  seen again and again in New York's five boroughs,

          3  artistic communities and cultural activities,

          4  catalyzes neighborhood vitality and long-term

          5  growth.

          6                 Chashama is constantly on the search

          7  for new studio, rehearsal and performance space in

          8  the five boroughs. As landlords rent the spaces that

          9  they've donated to us, we struggle to shift our

         10  artists to comparable spaces in other buildings.

         11                 As our number of spaces increase, so

         12  does the number of artists that we are able to

         13  support.

         14                 In the past we've relied largely on

         15  personal connection, letters of inquiry and cold

         16  calls in order to solicit new spaces.

         17                 However, in the last year or two,

         18  we've discovered that the Business Improvement

         19  Districts are a great resource for information and

         20  connections, and they've helped us to find new

         21  spaces as we expand from our traditional Midtown

         22  base into Queens, Upper Manhattan and Brooklyn.

         23                 In New York each neighborhood has its

         24  own particular personality and set of challenges,

         25  and for an arts organization like Chashama that
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          2  operates all over the City, the BID's intimate

          3  knowledge of a particular neighborhood is priceless

          4  in our search for new spaces for artists.

          5                 In addition, landlords trust the

          6  BIDs. When we approach a perspective partner, having

          7  the BID behind us lends the credibility that we need

          8  in order to negotiate with a landlord who might not

          9  know much about the needs of individual artists and

         10  arts organizations in their neighborhood and across

         11  the City.

         12                 Every neighborhood has particular

         13  needs and possibilities. Neighborhoods with a lot of

         14  street traffic are filled with potential sites for

         15  public art. For example, Chashama is currently

         16  partnering with the Fashion Center BID as part of

         17  the Fashion Center Arts Festival. Our programming

         18  director worked with the BID to match artists with

         19  donated loading docks. Artists have created five

         20  unique public art installations that are on display

         21  this weekend. I encourage you to go take a look if

         22  you're in the fashion district this weekend.

         23                 The BID helped us to solicit

         24  donations from Kaufmann Management Company, LLC and

         25  Olmstead Properties, Inc., which bring attention to
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          2  the neighborhood and enhance the BID's festival.

          3                 Some landlords in neighborhoods that

          4  are being revitalized wish to increase street

          5  traffic, and are willing to donate space in order to

          6  bring artists and their audiences into the area. For

          7  the last two years Chashama has been distributing

          8  spaces to artists in Long Island City in a former

          9  bank on Queens Plaza.

         10                 Chashama will be moving out of that

         11  space at the end of the month, but we're going to be

         12  turning to the Long Island City BID and its contacts

         13  in order to help look for other landlords who might

         14  be willing to donate space in a neighborhood that

         15  our artists are excited to be working in.

         16                 So, in order to provide visual and

         17  performing arts with the space that they need,

         18  Chashama is continually seeking out relationships

         19  and partnerships that will help us find new

         20  locations across the City.

         21                 Sometimes the BID is the best place

         22  to go and the staff fair shares ideas around the

         23  City. Sometimes the BID is unable to help and so we

         24  go to organizations like the New York City Economic

         25  Development Corporation or Upper Manhattan
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          2  Empowerment Zone. Sometimes local art service

          3  organizations connect us with artists and with

          4  resources or point us to properties that might be

          5  available.

          6                 In each neighborhood and with each

          7  potential property, we have to start from scratch in

          8  order to find a sympathetic and supportive set of

          9  organizations and individuals who can help us

         10  enliven a building or a neighborhood.

         11                 If a number of cultural development

         12  districts were to be established in New York, they

         13  might be able to centralize information, contacts

         14  and resources with help organizations like Chashama

         15  come into a new area and maintain a presence there.

         16                 They might serve as a meeting place

         17  for arts organizations, developers and landlords

         18  looking to incorporate an arts presence into their

         19  buildings, and City agencies running incentive

         20  programs in order to support the arts.

         21                 Landlords, developers and local

         22  businesses looking for ways to create strategic

         23  alliances with arts organizations might be able to

         24  find the most appropriate matches through an office

         25  that would have intimate knowledge of local arts
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          2  organizations and their needs, as well as the

          3  economic climate of a particular neighborhood and

          4  its current development initiatives.

          5                 Efforts to centralize information

          6  about resources and opportunities can only benefit

          7  the arts community from individual artists, like

          8  those supported by Chashama to large arts

          9  organizations who want to have a healthy and

         10  symbiotic relationship with their neighborhoods. The

         11  creation of cultural districts might be an excellent

         12  first step toward bridging the gap between the

         13  artistic and real estate communities, enriching and

         14  enlivening New York's unique cultural landscape.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: All right, I

         17  want to just thank you. But, again, it seems to me,

         18  if I'm not mistaken, basically is that you need

         19  somewhere to go to get information, to give out your

         20  information, to meet other people and let them know

         21  about, you know, the dance space and rehearsal space

         22  that you have available, correct?

         23                 MS. McMATH: Yes, exactly. Exactly. We

         24  just, we have three brand new spaces in Harlem, and,

         25  you know, are sort of reaching out to the Harlem
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          2  Arts Alliance to help us to find the artists in that

          3  neighborhood who will be most appropriate for those

          4  spaces, because we don't, you know, we don't have

          5  connections, but we did find a building, we did get

          6  a donation in that area, and so moving into that

          7  area we're trying to find partners there.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Okay. This is

          9  another area that, you know, developing cultural

         10  districts is one thing, but also we want it to be

         11  like they should hire someone for information and

         12  like a director we could sort of say of the whole

         13  area so they can bring it in and put it all

         14  together, so somebody like your group could go there

         15  and work with them --

         16                 MS. McMATH: Absolutely.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: -- And help

         18  them.

         19                 I want to thank you for testifying,

         20  taking the time out. It's very important that we

         21  hear from different groups and the problems, what's

         22  facing them, and how we in City government can help

         23  you.

         24                 MS. BAKER: Thank you very much.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: And, you know,
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          2  testimony is very important and we appreciate taking

          3  the time out and coming here today.

          4                 MS. BAKER: Okay, thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you very

          6  much.

          7                 MS. DePEDRO: Our last panel, and I

          8  will ask you to keep your testimony to three minutes

          9  or less, will be Gerald Scupp of Fashion Center BID,

         10  Bob Blackman from Lower Manhattan Cultural Council,

         11  Bill Aguado from Bronx Council on the Arts, and Luis

         12  Cancel, CSV Cultural Center.

         13                 I'm sorry, we need another chair.

         14  Cynthia Elliot from Symphony Space.

         15                 Can the Councils go first?

         16                 MR. BLACKMAN: Oh, sure.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Mr. Blackman.

         18                 MR. BLACKMAN: That's me.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: That's right.

         20  You go first.

         21                 MR. BLACKMAN: Right.

         22                 So, I'm looking to advertise any LMCC

         23  programs or services to you, Council members.

         24                 So, should the City provide economic

         25  incentives to create arts institutions that
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          2  encourage regenerative economic development? Sure.

          3  Of course. But not solely that. I don't think that

          4  is a first priority. Cultural districts have helped

          5  regenerate not just cities downturned, but somewhat

          6  on the brink of collapse, but New York is not in

          7  either of those positions. We're thankfully in a

          8  much stronger position.

          9                 So, historically New York was the

         10  arts capital of the world. Now it's simply one of

         11  the arts institution capital of the world, and

         12  opportunities for individual artists are sorely

         13  needed. Let's invest in the arts from the ground up.

         14                 Cultural districts should be on the

         15  small local scale and guided by the arts

         16  organizations working on the ground.

         17                 Invest City funds in organizations

         18  that sustain New York's artists. Those that promote

         19  local talent, or poor resources to help reduce

         20  affordable products like health care, housing

         21  opportunities and technical support services. This

         22  is just as Commissioner Levin was saying earlier on.

         23                 These are similar needs as for other

         24  sectors of the population, exactly the same as

         25  police officers, firefighters, nurses, so on. Treat
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          2  non-profits like businesses, so don't continue to

          3  keep flagging ones afloat, only invest in successful

          4  organizations really making a difference, and let

          5  the others go. This applies to the largest cultural

          6  institutions to the smallest art group.

          7                 If the Council is to provide

          8  incentives to large scale cultural development, it

          9  should bring in private sector and influential

         10  individuals into planning processes. While there are

         11  thousands of artists who can no longer afford to

         12  live here, there are also thousands of the largest

         13  individual and corporate supports of the arts in the

         14  entire world.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Excuse me. I

         16  just would like to recognize Dan Garodnick who has

         17  just joined us from Manhattan. Thank you.

         18                 MR. BLACKMAN: The most successful

         19  cultural districts all over the world, be it

         20  Pittsburgh here or London, and that's even been done

         21  using influential individuals and wealthy

         22  philanthropists, the cost benefit ratio is usually

         23  too high for public investment in sort of large

         24  scale cultural districts, investing in grassroots in

         25  a wide range of communities, small cultural
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          2  clusters, individual streets, rather inexpensive

          3  signature architecture. When we do invest in major

          4  institutions think of cost effective ways to do

          5  that, mixed into the commercial development, into

          6  new transits, sports facilities, and attached to

          7  schools and public universities.

          8                 We could actually be doing this kind

          9  of thing today, and we are doing this kind of thing

         10  today. Help make cultural districts and single

         11  streets that already exist.

         12                 A whole section of the City doesn't

         13  need to be raised before art can happen, simply

         14  continue to encourage programs to allow artists from

         15  all over the City to produce and present work in

         16  spaces that would otherwise have been empty.

         17                 This can happen even while further

         18  development is slated for that particular area.

         19                 Enabling this doesn't necessarily

         20  mean that it requires extensive planning to do it.

         21  It just requires the small organizations that are

         22  actually doing it right now.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you very

         24  much.

         25                 MR. AGUADO: Thank you for the
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          2  opportunity to testify this afternoon. My name is

          3  Bill Aguado. I'm Executive Director of the Bronx

          4  Council on the Arts.

          5                 In 2001, the Bronx Council on the

          6  Arts working in concert with the Bronx Borough

          7  President, designated a portion of the Lower Grand

          8  Concourse as the new South Bronx Cultural Corridor.

          9                 This corridor is a cultural economic

         10  development model that mines the resources of the

         11  South Bronx creative industries to contribute to

         12  sustained economic vibrancy.

         13                 With the Bronx Borough President and

         14  BCA acting as an organizing team, the effort has

         15  acquired the full participation of the local

         16  business community, arts institutions, artists and

         17  residents.

         18                 These often disparate sectors are

         19  committed to a working partnership that is

         20  revitalizing their community. The South Bronx

         21  artists, arts organizations, and art-centric

         22  businesses coupled with merchants and small business

         23  owners and local institutions can work together to

         24  form an important catalyst for community

         25  revitalization.
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          2                 The Bronx Museum, at the northern

          3  end, 165th Street, has opened a new five-story

          4  addition. Hostos Community College at the southern

          5  end, 149th Street, acts as a community, cultural and

          6  educational anchor.

          7                 The Bronx Council's Longwood Art

          8  Gallery has moved its programs and operations to

          9  Hostos at 150th Street, Pregones Theater, a

         10  respected Latino institution operating in the Bronx

         11  for over 25 years, purchased a building and after

         12  renovating it, opened a new regional Hispanic

         13  theatre complex. Hundreds of artists, designers and

         14  professionals have relocated into the vacant

         15  industrial loft spaces in the Mott Haven community

         16  at the south end of the Corridor, and several new

         17  restaurants and galleries have opened along the mile

         18  stretch of this area.

         19                 To maximize local assets into a major

         20  tourism destination and force for arts development,

         21  BCA looked at existing cultural resources that had

         22  previously not been linked together. With a modest

         23  research and planning investment, the Cultural

         24  Corridor development planning now focuses on three

         25  areas, business development, tourism, and job
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          2  creation. Impact will be measured in terms of the

          3  business and job development, tourism income and

          4  increased visitor traffic to the area.

          5                 Strategically, the South Bronx

          6  Cultural Corridor will become the gateway to the new

          7  Bronx. To link this critical cultural area, BCA has

          8  programmed the "First Wednesdays" series. An

          9  essential component of this program is the Bronx

         10  Culture Trolley.

         11                 I'll just skip to more, some other

         12  areas of my testimony.

         13                 Since its inaugural run in December

         14  2002, the Bronx Culture Trolley has become a "must

         15  do event" on the calendars of First Wednesday

         16  regulars from all five boroughs and international

         17  visitors as well. With numbers growing every month,

         18  the trolley's fourth season currently serves well

         19  over 500 people per trolley night. Regulars and

         20  repeat groups, wide-ranging ages, and standing room

         21  only trolleys and venues are becoming commonplace on

         22  trolley night.

         23                 A collaborative effort of the Bronx

         24  Council on the Arts and the Bronx Tourism Council,

         25  the Culture Trolley provides an innovative way to
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          2  travel free, via a copy of an early 20th Century

          3  trolley car while giving its passengers the

          4  opportunity to sample several of the area's hottest

          5  cultural attractions, dining establishments and

          6  entertainment venues on the first Wednesday evening

          7  of the month. Making a cultural loop through the

          8  lower Concourse, the trolley gives riders the

          9  freedom to hop on and off at different stops along

         10  the route, giving them full control of the evening.

         11                 The Trolley tours of the Cultural

         12  Corridor have been marketed locally, regionally,

         13  domestic, and internationally as the flagship of the

         14  new South Bronx renaissance.

         15                 Currently, the Bronx Council has

         16  several initiatives in the South Bronx operating as

         17  independent entities that have achieved a great deal

         18  of success and public recognition.

         19                 Separately, each of the programs has

         20  developed its own following. Together they create a

         21  significant cultural and tourism destination.

         22                 I want to go back to the Trolley

         23  again because of its importance in attracting a lot

         24  of residents. It's a mixture of local residents, a

         25  mixture of tourists and a mixture of artists. We
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          2  even commission artists to create works on the

          3  trolley to entertain the people who ride the

          4  trolley.

          5                 But also part of this corridor is the

          6  Artisans Initiative, which is an entrepreneurial

          7  business development venture, which is designed to

          8  allow local residents and recent immigrants to

          9  capitalize on their skills and talents.

         10                 Through a year-long research project,

         11  BCA is identifying artisans and craftpersons

         12  practicing in the area and has organized Arts and

         13  Craft Fairs that take place at venues along the

         14  Trolley route to market works by local ethnic

         15  artisans, fine artists, traditional folk artists and

         16  practitioners of the informal arts.

         17                 Utilizing the experience learned from

         18  programming an exhibition held in 2001 at Hostos Art

         19  Gallery, we identified the presence of Dominican

         20  women who make traditional dolls, BCA has broadened

         21  its reach to other local ethnic artisans. The

         22  present survey reaches out to the Nigerian and

         23  Ghanian craftpersons in the area, as well as others

         24  in South America, Mexico, Korea, Russia and so

         25  forth, who have been enriching the families,
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          2  streets, and community by practicing the informal

          3  arts, such as hair braiding, costume, instrument and

          4  jewelry making, weaving and the cooking arts.

          5                 In addition, we're now in the eighth

          6  year of the Arthandlers' Training Program, which is

          7  dealing, which is the only professional training

          8  program of its kind in the nation.

          9                 The BCA's training program is part of

         10  a vision to create a back office arts-related

         11  service industry in the Bronx that trains residents

         12  and places them in meaningful career-oriented jobs.

         13  To date, over 120 individuals hold certificates as

         14  professional arthandlers, and historically our

         15  participants have been under or unemployed and range

         16  in age from late teens to 50 on up. Most reside in

         17  the South Bronx, and during the last program year we

         18  targeted those Bronx residents who are working

         19  artists who already had exposure to the arts. Ninety

         20  percent had at least ten years of work experience

         21  and were prepared to adopt a symbiotic career path.

         22                 In addition, and probably one of the

         23  most significant achievements of our Arthandlers'

         24  Training Program has been during the summer of 2001

         25  and the fall of 2003, 27 of our professionally
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          2  trained art members were hired in several crews to

          3  prepare for the reburial of the remains of the New

          4  York's first African settlers and their artifacts.

          5                 The US General Service Administration

          6  exhumed these 455 burials from the New York African

          7  Burial Ground in 1990, and during the groundbreaking

          8  period for a federal building.

          9                 The Arthandler Technician staff and

         10  crew assigned not only drafted a protocol and

         11  procedural manual with the U.S. Army Corps of

         12  Engineers, it also was primarily responsible for the

         13  draping and placement back in the caskets.

         14                 The Mott Haven area, which we call

         15  Artists Mecca, quietly but most assuredly artists

         16  are relocating from around the nation to the Mott

         17  Haven area to the south end of the Corridor. BCA

         18  organizes art tours at the studios, at the many

         19  individual painter, sculptors and media artists now

         20  working in the area's lofts.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Sir, can you

         22  just sum up, because we're getting --

         23                 MR. AGUADO: Okay. Let me just move

         24  quickly --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Yes.
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          2                 MR. AGUADO: -- To Bronx creative

          3  industries. We have identified over 300 arts-related

          4  businesses and 4,000 people who work in them. We

          5  received a grant from the US -- from the New York

          6  City Department of Small Business Services and we're

          7  conducting an inventory of these organizations, of

          8  these businesses to see how they can best relate to

          9  the non-profit arts universe, artists, immigrants

         10  and artisans.

         11                 In summary, we are blessed with a

         12  great deal of industry and creativity, and we're

         13  hopeful that with new private investment and support

         14  by the public sector, the goals of the South Bronx

         15  Corridor can be realized.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you.

         17                 MR. SCUPP: Good afternoon. My name is

         18  Gerald Scupp. I'm Deputy Director of the Fashion

         19  Center Business Improvement District. It's my

         20  pleasure to testify to you here today. In support of

         21  maximizing the City's efforts on behalf of

         22  neighborhood, arts and cultural communities.

         23                 The major arts and cultural

         24  institutions are a defining part of the City, and

         25  certainly contribute to its world class status, but
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          2  it is the arts at a more local level that give the

          3  City its character.

          4                 And while the major arts players have

          5  powerful public voices, the local artists, theaters

          6  and similar institutions often struggle to be heard.

          7                 It is these individuals and groups

          8  that should be cultivated, not only because they are

          9  the future of the arts and culture of New York, but

         10  also the color they bring to the local environments,

         11  and because there is a tangible economic return when

         12  there is investment in the arts.

         13                 Our neighborhood is an example of the

         14  value of the arts in the community. The Fashion

         15  District in Midtown Manhattan is following in the

         16  pattern of other New York neighborhoods that have

         17  transitioned.

         18                 In our case, the district has

         19  traditionally been defined by the fashion industry.

         20  However, while we remain the fashion capital of the

         21  world for design and marketing, the manufacturing

         22  base has been eviscerated by global changes,

         23  emptying numerous factory buildings.

         24                 While the neighborhood has languished

         25  below its economic potential, for being in Midtown
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          2  Manhattan, we have been very fortunate over the last

          3  few years to be experiencing an invigorating growth

          4  of cultural establishments.

          5                 The Fashion Center BID has worked to

          6  nurture that growth and create programs to promote

          7  their presence, thus providing a secondary economic

          8  base and identity for the neighborhood.

          9                 Over the last five years there has

         10  been an influx of art galleries, Off Broadway

         11  Theaters and dance companies. Of these include some

         12  very well-known organizations, but also include

         13  hundreds of artists, studios, rehearsal spaces and a

         14  growing infrastructure of service providers and

         15  support organizations.

         16                 All of these in turn are beginning to

         17  attract the bars and restaurants with the combined

         18  effect of creating a new economic vitality district

         19  to compliment the fashion industry base.

         20                 The cycle of development is certainly

         21  not unique to the Fashion District. We've seen these

         22  changes in neighborhoods, such as Tribeca, SoHo,

         23  Williamsburg, just to name a few.

         24                 What is interesting about these

         25  arts-related neighborhoods, neighborhood
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          2  transitions, that they did not occur because of the

          3  actions of major cultural institutions, they grew

          4  over time, largely unsupported, from the ground up.

          5                 With the wealth of creative talent

          6  residing in New York, imagine the benefits the City

          7  could experience if there was a base of support and

          8  an organized infrastructure of programs and

          9  promotions.

         10                 The Fashion Center BID, with its very

         11  limited resources, has undertaken this effort on a

         12  local level by organizing an annual Fashion District

         13  Arts Festival, conducting business education classes

         14  for artists and related organizations, and also

         15  promoting them through our website and publications.

         16                 We treat the artists and

         17  organizations as an asset in our neighborhood and we

         18  are currently looking into ways of having a more

         19  visible and ongoing promotion of the neighborhood's

         20  town, but as I mentioned our resources are fairly

         21  limited.

         22                 It's important to note that we've

         23  also undertaken these efforts largely unguided, and

         24  with a great deal of trial and error.

         25                 For an organization such as ours,
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          2  there are very few resources for developing

          3  neighborhood arts programs. To inexpensively promote

          4  arts, there is a hodge-podge of publications,

          5  websites, et cetera, and general calendar listings.

          6  For funding arts at the neighborhood level is

          7  specious at best.

          8                 Simply put, local arts communities

          9  need to be able to easily locate and access a

         10  network of support services. They need inexpensive

         11  ways to promote what they are doing and where

         12  possible, if they need access to funding sources.

         13                 Such needs could potentially be met

         14  through a City office that could provide basic

         15  assistance to neighborhood groups, such as a

         16  clearinghouse which identifies other resources being

         17  offered.

         18                 Also, Citywide promotional vehicle,

         19  even as simple as a website should be developed so

         20  that local organizations without advertising budgets

         21  can ensure to at least have some level of promotion

         22  for their events beyond their local neighborhood.

         23                 A wish list to help the arts, local

         24  arts and cultural efforts in our area and around

         25  could go on to include more public sculptures, art
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          2  installations, art competitions, grants for

          3  arts-based organizations, neighborhood improvements.

          4                 However, it could really just easily

          5  start, it could start easily enough by just

          6  coordinating and providing easier access to the

          7  public and private resources already available.

          8                 While every neighborhood is different

          9  and their available resources and needs vary

         10  greatly, we feel there is a potential to develop

         11  some Citywide programs that will nurture the growth

         12  of arts in New York City so programs can be

         13  developed without homogenizing the spirit of

         14  individuality which is the hallmark of neighborhood

         15  arts and cultures.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you very

         18  much.

         19                 MS. CANCEL: Good afternoon. My name

         20  is Luis Cancel. I'm the Executive Director of the

         21  Clementes Sortavellas Cultural Center (phonetic), an

         22  arts incubator that's been operating in the Lower

         23  East Side for the past 13 years.

         24                 And I'm here to really try to raise

         25  the volume on the continuing pain that the creative
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          2  class of New York City is experiencing.

          3                 It is the visual artists, the

          4  creators, the performers, the dancers, all those

          5  folks that help to create art are seeing themselves

          6  continually being driven out of the City because of

          7  the lack of affordable space.

          8                 So, cultural districts, it's being

          9  contemplated, have to, you have to make sure that

         10  the benefits of those cultural districts are going

         11  to be channeled in a way that are going to help the

         12  creative class as directly as possible.

         13                 And, you know, for instance, one of

         14  the ideas that I wanted to suggest with you today is

         15  that incubators, in the places that help to provide

         16  affordable spaces, really need to be targeted by

         17  these cultural -- you know, in the formation of

         18  these cultural districts, because it is the cost of

         19  space that is driving the creative class right out

         20  of New York City.

         21                 You know, I'll remind everybody that

         22  Paris was the capital of the cultural world for

         23  undisputably more than 60 years.

         24                 New York, when it assumed that mantle

         25  in the fifties, it coincided with a decrease in the
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          2  manufacturing capacity of the City, so all of a

          3  sudden there was a lot of empty space, affordable

          4  space sprung up. New York could become a magnet.

          5  This is one of the major contributing factors. And a

          6  recent report that I saw about Berlin and what is

          7  happening in Berlin right now, their a magnet

          8  because of affordable space. There's a real problem

          9  with their real property. Their real property is a

         10  little bit depressed right now. All of a sudden

         11  they've got a lot of empty affordable space, and the

         12  artists are flocking there. So, there is a very

         13  direct correlation to the cost of space and the

         14  ability for a City to continue to serve as a magnet

         15  for those things.

         16                 You might want to consider in the

         17  creation of a cultural district, you know, a

         18  municipal tax credit, tax deduction, that could be

         19  doubled for organizations that are located in that

         20  space, in that district, so that you bring in the

         21  market forces that our friend here was talking

         22  about, you know, if you got organizations that are

         23  helping the visual artists, creating these

         24  incentives, creating affordable spaces, the more

         25  that they can attract corporate and foundation
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          2  support to those centers, you can incentivize that

          3  by creating doubling the tax deductions on a

          4  municipal tax, taxes that would be paid.

          5                 So, a place like the Clementes, SCV

          6  cultural center, that houses 53 visual artists and

          7  13 non-profit groups that they share, you know,

          8  gallery spaces and four theaters and it allows, you

          9  know, last year 50 non-profit performing groups to

         10  come in and do their productions there, you know,

         11  serves as kind of an anchor and a magnet. We're one

         12  of the last ones in Manhattan. There is a desperate

         13  need to do this and replicate in throughout the

         14  City, and this Committee, under your leadership,

         15  really has the great opportunity, and, you know,

         16  you're bringing that spotlight onto this issue, so

         17  we commend you for having these hearings, we applaud

         18  your leadership, and we hope that you will be able

         19  to incentivize, the administration to bring its

         20  highest level of attention to this problem. You

         21  know, we saw hundreds of millions of dollars in

         22  incentives go to Wall Street firms, and we're

         23  talking about moving out of Manhattan.

         24                 We saw tens of millions of dollars go

         25  as sports groups, you know, to build stadiums, the
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          2  economic life is New York City is very dependent on

          3  tourism and on that cultural dollar and it's the

          4  artist that makes that happen. Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: We agree with

          6  you. That's why in last year's budget, more than

          7  ever the artists and the cultural groups got a very

          8  big increase in the funding, not only through DCA,

          9  but through the fund that DCA runs, we increased

         10  that with the Administration, the capital projects,

         11  capital money that went out was increased. But what

         12  I'm hearing from all of you is basically that there

         13  is just a need for these cultural districts. But

         14  also, if you're going to form them, give it the

         15  support that it needs so that groups could go there

         16  for help, when they have rehearsal space they know

         17  where to go, not that they're wondering how they can

         18  reach out and find more groups that are searching

         19  for this rehearsal space.

         20                 Okay, next. Identify yourself.

         21                 MS. ELLIOTT: Good afternoon. My name

         22  is Cynthia Elliott, and I'm the Executive Director

         23  of Symphony Space at 95th and Broadway.

         24                 I'd like to start by thanking the

         25  City Council for the outstanding funding support
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          2  that you have provided Symphony Space in recent

          3  years.

          4                 This theater has successfully made

          5  the transition from being a shabby, decrepit former

          6  movie house to a state-of-the-art affordable and

          7  accessible performing arts facility, thanks in no

          8  small measure to your support.

          9                 Symphony Space's transformation in

         10  some way mirrors the growth of the Upper West Side

         11  itself over the past 30 years. For generations, the

         12  Upper West Side has been the home to some of the

         13  greatest writers, actors, musicians and artists of

         14  our time.

         15                 Now it is also the home to large

         16  populations of New Yorkers who are ready and willing

         17  to support the arts in their own back yard and make

         18  the Upper West Side not only home-based but also an

         19  important cultural destination.

         20                 Last year Symphony Space created the

         21  Upper West Fest, a two-week long celebration of the

         22  arts on the Upper West Side for this exact purpose,

         23  to showcase the Upper West Side as a cultural

         24  destination. Virtually all cultural organizations in

         25  the area participated, including St. John The
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          2  Divine, Barnyard Columbia, the World Music

          3  Institute, Ballet Hispanico, the Natural History

          4  Museum, the New York Historical Society, the

          5  Children's Museum, JCC, Kaufmann Center, Lincoln

          6  Center and many more.

          7                 This season we are doing it again for

          8  three weeks from April 28th through May 20th. We

          9  anticipate that there will be more than 100 events

         10  or exhibitions during this period, and all of the

         11  cultural organizations will collaborate to promote

         12  the festival and each other's programs.

         13                 I can imagine no greater example of a

         14  de facto cultural district coming together for the

         15  common good.

         16                 Now, how can the City help?

         17                 My suggestions apply to all of the

         18  arts, but I will be specifically relating to the

         19  Upper West Fest.

         20                 Whether or not the Upper West Side is

         21  designated as an actual cultural district, I would

         22  suggest some or all of the following:

         23                 Work with the developers who are

         24  putting up all those new residential buildings to

         25  incorporate cultural offerings in their marketing
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          2  and community relations plans.

          3                 Provide subway posters and maps,

          4  street banners, visibility on WQXR and public access

          5  TV, and use other media tools at your disposal to

          6  help raise the visibility of the Upper West Fest.

          7                 Provide seed money to support the

          8  marketing of the festival. You will, in one

          9  fell-swoop, benefit more than 25 different cultural

         10  organizations.

         11                 Zabar started the ball rolling last

         12  year, and this seed money will have the effect of

         13  encouraging other local businesses to provide

         14  financial support as well.

         15                 Through the City's recently expanded

         16  New York City marketing department, finally, promote

         17  the Upper West Fest as a destination for tourists.

         18  And as I say, all of these things apply to any other

         19  cultural district initiative that would be organized

         20  around the City.

         21                 These few initiatives undertaken and

         22  supported by the City Council, can have a

         23  significant impact on the ability of cultural

         24  organizations located throughout the City, not only

         25  to serve their traditional constituencies, but more
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          2  importantly, to broaden their reach into many more

          3  communities throughout New York and beyond.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you very

          6  much, Symphony Space. We appreciate what you're

          7  doing up there, but again, you're doing a great job

          8  and we just need to really surround an area with

          9  other institutions and ways of increasing that area,

         10  you know?

         11                 MS. ELLIOTT: One point I just want to

         12  reinforce is, it's about space, it's absolutely

         13  about space, but it's also about supporting the

         14  organization's abilities to attract audience.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Exactly.

         16                 You know, when I hear about the

         17  ability to attract the audiences, you know, that's

         18  true up to a point, but I believe that there's a lot

         19  of space out there that we're not using properly,

         20  and it's different groups that testified here today

         21  that go after this empty space and try to get it,

         22  you know, especially convince the landlord that it's

         23  emptied. It's going to be empty for the next six

         24  months or eight months or a year, to let us rent it

         25  out, you know?
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          2                 And that's what we have to look at,

          3  but also we have to really try to develop certain

          4  areas.

          5                 That's why one thing that I think is

          6  good, and I'm going to set up, is for each

          7  delegation in the City Council to meet with

          8  Commissioner Kate Levin, so they could hear what's

          9  going on in their borough, and to see how they could

         10  help. Because we heard in the South Bronx the point

         11  of what's going around there.

         12                 You know, how could the City Council,

         13  those Council members help, and bring groups there

         14  that might be able to really develop and prosper

         15  that whole area, and that's what this is all about.

         16                 And the biggest thing is

         17  communication. Communication is a big problem and

         18  it's a thing that has to be addressed, and how we do

         19  that, I'm not really sure, but we definitely have to

         20  get the word out. Like we had a non-profit desk at

         21  EDC, you know, how do we get that out there for

         22  people to go out there for help.

         23                 But I want to thank you all for

         24  coming here today to testify. I appreciate it, okay?

         25  And I just want you to know that we're here to work
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          2  with you. We're your partner in achieving your goals

          3  and making those dreams come true.

          4                 Thank you very much.

          5                 MR. AGUADO: Thank you.

          6                 (Hearing concluded at 3:15 p.m.)
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